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	CALVIN L. McGAHUEY, 

                                                   Employee, 

                                                     Applicant,

                                                   v. 

WHITESTONE LOGGING, INC.,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

ALASKA TIMBER INSURANCE 

EXCHANGE,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                     Defendants.
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200507894
AWCB Decision No. 08-0108 

Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on June 11, 2008


The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (“Board”) heard the employee’s claims associated with an alleged March 2004 injury on October 11, 2006, at Anchorage, Alaska.  The employee appeared pro se by telephone from Crescent City, California.   Pamela Scott, claims manager for Alaska Timber Insurance Exchange, appeared by telephone and represented the employer and insurer.  The record closed at the conclusion of the hearing.  In our Final Decision and Order No. 06-0300 (November 9, 2006), the Board granted the employer’s petition to dismiss the claim pursuant to AS 23.30.100 due to failure by the employee to give timely notice of the injury to employer.  The employee appealed the Board’s decision to the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission.  In its Final Decision issued August 28, 2007, the Appeals Commission remanded the matter to the Board for rehearing and additional findings, particularly with respect to the credibility of witnesses and application of the presumption analysis.  Prehearing conferences for the purposes of offering additional medical evidence and witnesses were conducted on October 1, 2007 and February 12, 2008.  The hearing on remand was conducted April 25, 2008. Additional witnesses were offered by the employer and additional medical evidence regarding the employee’s conditions were submitted to the Board.  The record closed at the hearing’s conclusion.  
ISSUES
1. Should the employer’s petition to dismiss be granted based on the employee’s failure to give timely notice pursuant to AS 23.30.100 of his alleged March 2004 injuries?

2. Has the employee established a compensable claim pursuant to AS 23.30,120?

3. Should the Board have ordered a second independent medical evaluation (SIME) pursuant to AS 23.30.095(k) and/or AS 23.30.110(g)?

       4. Should the employee’s request for continuance of the April 25, 2008 have been granted    pursuant to 8 AAC 45.082? 

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

I.  AWCB DECISION NO. 06-0300

The following recitation of facts is limited to those necessary for the Board to decide the narrow issues of whether to grant the employer’s motion to dismiss the employee’s claim pursuant to 
AS 23.30.100 and/or whether the employee has established a compensable claim pursuant to 
AS 23.30.120.  

The employee worked for the employer as a boomboat operator.  The employee was stationed on Afognak Island in Alaska, where the employer was engaged in logging operations.  The employee began working for the employer February 17, 2004.  The employee got into a dispute with three other employees regarding use of the telephone. The dispute led to a fight which occurred in early March 2004. The employee claims that he was attacked and pushed against a table in the bunk house injuring his back, hip and left ear.  The employer claims the participants in the fight were intoxicated.  The employee denies being intoxicated at the time of the fight.  After the fight, employer’s personnel separated the employee from the other combatants. 
The employee did not report the incident until June 8, 2005 to the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board.
 The employee gave varying accounts as to why he did not promptly report his injuries. The employee claims that he was prevented from immediately seeking medical care because of the camp’s remote location and because the employer’s work hours were long.  He also reported that he did not immediately seek medical care because he did not know that his back had been injured.  He also claims that the employer’s personnel, someone named John, kept him from filing a report regarding the incident.  

The employee did seek medical care for a cyst behind his left ear on May 25, 2004.
 The cyst was treated and the employee released.  The employer accepted his May 5, 2004 claim for medical treatment as the doctor could not be certain the condition was not related to use of earplugs at work.
   The employee made no mention of his back or hip condition when he saw the doctor on May 25, 2004.  On June 4, 2004, the employee’s employment with the employer ended.  On February 12, 2005, the employee sought treatment, not related to back complaints, in Crescent City, California but again made no mention of any back or hip condition.

In April, 2005, the employee again sought medical treatment for the cyst behind his ear.
  On April 6, 2005, the employee completed a report of injury.
 It was received by the insurer May 3, 2005. It was received by the Board June 8, 2005.  On June 16, 2005, the employer filed a controversion alleging that the claim was barred by AS 23.30.100 and AS 23.30.235.



In October 2005, the employee began working for Simpson Timber in California.  At that time, he filled out a work questionnaire indicating that he could lift 100 pounds and walk 20 feet carrying 100 lbs. He also represented to this employer that he had no back problems.

On December 7, 2005, the employee experienced back pain and sought medical treatment.  He told his chiropractor that the bobcat he was using at Simpson broke and he had to move chips manually.  A note from the employee’s chiropractor, Tracy Cole, D.C., released the employee for work effective December 12, 2005.
  He was diagnosed with “instability of lumbosacral or sacral illiac joint.”
  A lumbar spine x-ray noted mild degenerative changes but was otherwise negative.

On January 8, 2006, the employee walked off the job at Simpson, claiming he was being harassed.  The employee subsequently attempted to file a workers’ compensation claim against Simpson but claims he was precluded from doing so as he no longer worked for Simpson.

On January 26, 2006, the employee wrote to the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board that he had sustained an injury in March 2004 to his back and hip and it was Whitestone’s responsibility to assume the costs of care rather than Simpson.

The employee filed a workers’ compensation claim with the State of Alaska based on his employment incident in March 2004 on February 1, 2006.  He sought temporary total disability (TTD), medical and medical transportation costs and a finding of frivolous and unfair controversion.

The employee sought medical care in March 2006.  A CT
 brain scan performed at this time showed normal results.
  A March 17, 2006 right hip MRI showed a normal condition.
  An MRI done this same date of the employee’s back was also normal.

On March 6, 2006, the employer controverted benefits based on the provisions of AS 23.30.100 and AS 23.30.235 and that the incident in March 2004 did not occur within the course and scope of employment.
  The controversion was amended May 25, 2006 to claim that the actual injury to the employee’s hip and back occurred while the employee was working for Simpson in December 2005.  The employer noted the medical report of December 7, 2005 noted that the employee’s low back condition came from doing heavy work for Simpson in the preceding week.
 

At the October 11, 2006 hearing, the employee contended that he has large medical bills for his back which are unpaid.  He also has been receiving social security disability since 1991.  The employer petitioned for dismissal under AS 23.30.100 and AS 23.30.235.

The Board found that the employee unreasonably delayed filing a report of injury.  The Board found that the fighting incident where the injury occurred took place in March 2004 but the employee did not report for treatment of any back condition until December 2005.  He also did not file a report of injury until June 8, 2005, which is not within 30 days as required under AS 23.30.100.  The Board found that none of the exceptions set out under this rule are applicable to the employee. The employer’s petition to dismiss the claim pursuant to AS 23.30.100 was granted by the Board.  Because of the granting of the dismissal, the merits of the employee’s claims were not addressed by the Board.

On December 26, 2005, the employee appealed AWCB Decision 06-0300.
  The employee stated as grounds for his appeal:

          I was assaulted and injured and still am injured.  I reported the injury’s

          to John Rivers, than worked and multiple weather conditions and, many

          locations other injury’s accored I filed after I went to doctor’s several

          times after I came home.

In an attached statement, the employee stated (verbatim):

          I am righting in regard to my injury’s of 2004-Here’s a list of objections to the apposing party    

1. I showed in my files that my back was crushed up against a table in 2004 and when I reported the matter the company did not file a report on the matter for they were short handed.  The company worked me when I was badly injured and assaulted by there employee.

2. Because of there contreversion I haven’t ben abbled to abtain a doctor.

3. I abject to not getting a SIME because I was badly injured and believe I have

torn mussel tissue damage I the area of where my back was crushed up against a wooden table.

4. I was worked long hour’s after the altercation which damaged and stressed my even old back problems not counting the mussle tissue damage that accured during the time of attack and pond and camp work.  I have filed a brief with the Commission on matters of great concern-Dates and times and darelick management and covering up a fight saying it was not in the scope of employment I            reported the matter ameditly and it was not any action taken-due to no legal action taken I have been left uncared for-and for the party’s saying untimely filing is e-relevant I no where my injury are and for them to abject to SIME is infringing on my right’s for proper care on all my injury’s from the 2004 attack and cover up the apposing party is even trying to say my lower lumbar was not badly damaged from the attack.  Im claiming stress to all ready lower lumbar and mussle tissue damaged lower back from the attack and the camp work I done wile I was still empoyed by WhiteStone Logging and these doctor bill’s are well over-10,000 dollar’s there in the 20,000 dollar range and still I haven’t got any proper care so before its over I could be in the million’s bracket-so let’s please  properly evaluate all the injury and care for all of my work related matter’s before coming up with a figure and amount on my Dr. bill’s that  are related to these case’s The apposing party said they all ready took care of claim to the ear condition and I do not believe they have legally done so yet.

II. APPEALS COMMISSION ORDER ON REMAND

On August 28, 2007, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission issued its Final Decision #054 on the employee’s appeal.  The Appeals Commission determined that the Board did not have substantial evidence to support its decision, AWCB Decision No. 06-0300 was vacated and the matter remanded to the Board for rehearing and directions to apply the presumption analysis based on AS 23.30.120(a)(2) to the notice issue, to set out sufficient findings of fact including credibility findings and to provide additional reasoning to permit review if sought by the parties.
   

III. APRIL 25, 2008 HEARING

After the remand, documents on file with the Board show that the employee made an effort to have documents from his file sent to an Anchorage attorney with expertise in workers’ compensation, Joseph Kalamarides.
  429 pages of documents were sent by the Board pursuant to the employee’s request.  A prehearing conference was conducted October 1, 2007.
  At this time, the hearing on remand was set tentatively for February 20, 2008.  

Medical records dated January 31, 2008, show the employee was seen at the Sutter Coast emergency room for chronic low back pain.  It was recommended that the employee follow up with the back specialist at U. C. Davis “as soon as possible.”
 

Another prehearing conference was conducted February 11, 2008, and the employee requested that the employer take steps to secure additional medical records concerning his emergency room visits at Sutter Coast Hospital.
  On February 26, 2008, the employee faxed the Board asking the Board and the employer to consider a nerve injury he experienced while working for Whitestone.  The employee claimed that he was experiencing a defective root canal which was infecting his body while he was working at Afognak for the employer. The employee claimed that mismanagement of his claims was leaving him without needed medical care.
 

On March 5, 2008, the employer filed an affidavit from Cliff Walker who was the owner of Whitestone at the time the employee worked for Whitestone.  Mr. Walker indicated that the employer never employed Mr. Bovee and that he was employed by Transpack Fiber and worked as a contract compliance person for his employer at the time Whitestone was working on Afognak.

On April 1, 2008, the employee submitted a statement “To Whom It May Concern” from Daniel Stein, PA-C from Open Door Community Health Centers in Crescent City, California. PA-C Stein had seen the employee and was aware of the employee chronic back complaints.
 Mr. Stein stated:

Calvin McGahuey is a patient at our clinic.  He has a history of low back pain since a work related injury in 2004.  He has an open claim with workman’s compensation for his back injury.  Unfortunately, our clinic is unable to address his back pain in the capacity as a workman’s compensation provider.  If he chooses to address his back pain in our clinic this will be irrespective of his workman’s compensation claim and we are happy to do this.

The employer advised the clinic by letter dated April 4, 2008 that it would not pay for the employee’s treatment at the clinic as his claim had been denied.
 

On March 17, 2008, another prehearing conference was held.
 On March 19, 2008, the employee faxed dental records to the Board from United Indian Health Services (UIHS) Dental Progress notes showing services received by the employee between June 13, 2000 and March 19, 2008.
 On March 26, 2008, the employee faxed a request to the Board asking for rehabilitation due to damaged muscle in lower back.

On April 14, 2008, another prehearing conference was conducted.
 The employee requested an SIME to be ordered by the Board and his request was denied by the Designated Chair Rosemary Foster.  In addition, the employee asked for a continuance of the April 18, 2008 hearing in order to obtain counsel.  The Designated Chair also denied this request.  However, the employee was allowed to present both issues to the Board.  The hearing was rescheduled to April 25, 2008.  

By filing dated April 17, 2008, the employer submitted a copy of a May 11, 2007 order affirming the dismissal of the employee’s claim against Cornett Lumbar for an arm injury claimed by the employee.  The order was issued by the Oregon Workers’ Compensation Board.
 

On April 20, 2008, the employee faxed an inquiry to the Board regarding access to the medical reports of Dr. Holmes and a Dr. Nguyen.
  

The supplemental evidence offered by the parties at the April 25, 2008 hearing shows additional medical treatment undertaken by the employee.  For example, medical reports during the four year period prior to the March 2004 altercation show the employee was treated for intermittent back pain.  On August 30, 2002, the employee was diagnosed with nonradicular lower back pain.
 An August 15, 2002 Ambulatory Encounter Record diagnoses back pain as his chief complaint by Clint Pearson, M.D.  Dr. Pearson indicates the back pain has occurred for several years.
 An August 15, 2002 limited lumbar spine series showed a “normal study.”
  Physical therapy was prescribed by Dr. Pearson three times a week for ten weeks for the employee’s nonradicular low back pain.
  Dr. Pearson’s October 4, 2002 report indicates the employee’s back pain is improved.
 The employee did file a report of injury in connection with an ear problem which occurred while working for Whitestone on August 9, 2004.
 The employer accepted this claim because the employee’s doctor asserted it was possibly based on usage of earplugs in the employer’s workplace.

On February 12, 2005, the employee was seen by Howard Croy, M.D. at the Sutter Coast Hospital emergency room for treatment of the lump or cyst on the left side of the back of his head.  He was advised to find a local physician to follow up on the cyst condition.

In May 2005, the employee saw several medical providers.  He was seen at the Sutter Coast Hospital emergency room on May 5, 2005 by Gerald McCallum, M.D., for a shoulder abscess.
 Two days later on May 7, 2005 the employee was seen for follow up for the abscess and no mention was made of any hip or back condition.
  

The employee also saw a dentist, Roger L. Wakeman, D.D.S., for tooth care and ultimate removal.
 On December 7, 2005, the employee was seen at the Sutter Coast emergency room for lumbar strain due to “shoveling.”

The medical report for September 14, 2006 indicates that the employee’s back pain is related to running a debarker while employed with Simpson on January 8, 2006.
 Dr. Isenhart notes that the employee has had mid back pain “for many years”.  The employee also reported low back pain, hip pain, and neck pain related to the cyst. The employee was referred to a local physician.  Although the employee filed a claim for a back injury against Simpson Timber, the claim was denied April 14, 2006 as the employee was no longer employed by Simpson.  Subsequent medical reports listing the employee’s treatment refer to the Simpson injury and the Whitestone interchangeably. On April 26, 2006, the employee was seen by Dr. Saunders for chronic right hip, “nerve damage” and back pain “…going on since the 1980’s.”
 The employee was again urged to find a local physician for follow up care.  The employee was also seen at the Sutter Coast Hospital emergency room on September 19, 2006, where he complained of chronic back pain due to a back injury caused by heavy lifting occurring January 8, 2006 while he was employed with Simpson Timber.  The employee was referred to a Dr. Nguyen.
 

On March 9, 2006, the employee was again seen at the Sutter Coast Hospital for complaints about back and right hip pain as a result of the 2004 injury and additional tests were prescribed.
 On March 17, 2006, an MRI of the lumbosacral spine was performed and the results were normal.
 On March 21, 2006, an MRI of the employee’s right hip was performed and the results were normal.  The history was noted to be: painful right hip, injured in 2004.
 On March 23, 2006, the employee was again seen by Dr. Holmes.
  The results of the MRI’s were discussed with the patient and he was referred to services from a private physician.

On April 9, 2006 the employee was again seen at the Sutter Coast Hospital emergency room with numerous complaints of extensive damage from on the job injuries affecting his head, back, hip, arm, shoulder and elbow. He states these injuries have caused “nerve damage.” The diagnosis was “chronic pain.”

On September 14, 2006, the employee returned to the Sutter Coast Hospital emergency room where he sought care for the January 8, 2006 back injury sustained while operating a debarker while working for Simpson Timber.
  On September 24, 2006, the employee returned to the Sutter Coast Hospital emergency room complaining of low back pain stemming from a January 8, 2006 lifting injury while working for Simpson Timber.  On this occasion, he threatened to sue the hospital for not providing him with a note saying he could not work for two years.

On October 1, 2006, the employee was again seen by Dr. Nicely at the Sutter Coast Hospital emergency room.  The employee complained of a cyst behind his left ear and low back pain.
 He told the doctor that while he was in Alaska he was smashed between a table and a wall across the middle part of his head and since that time he has noticed pain and a cyst behind his left ear. He received a prescription for a back brace.  He was again encouraged to seek the services of local physician. On October 14, 2006, the employee was again seen at the Sutter Coast emergency room by Dr. Saunders.
  He complained that there was something wrong and that there was a sharp pain starting in his head that went to his left foot. He stated he was told that the back pain and problems were due to an on the job injury and that there was a conspiracy between the hospital and his insurance provider.  He complained that the hospital was telling the insurance provider there is nothing wrong with his back and he is very angry about this.
 The employee was encouraged by Dr. Saunders to seek the services of a local physician for follow-up.
  On October 21, 2006, the employee was released from Sutter Coast Health Center with instructions to seek the services of a local physician for treatment of a mass behind his left ear.
 The employee was again seen at the Sutter Coast Hospital emergency room on January 16, 2007, for complaints of low back pain originating in 2004.
  On November 26, 2007, the employee was again released from the Sutter Coast Hospital emergency room following treatment for low back pain with recommendations to seek the services of a local physician.
  Again, on January 31, 2008, the employee was seen at Sutter Coast Hospital by Dr. Holmes who indicated the employee originally wanted to be seen at the University of California at Davis for his back condition but then decided to be treated at Sutter Coast instead.

In addition, the employer offered the testimony of four employer witnesses regarding the employee’s condition at the time of the March 2004 altercation and his subsequent behavior through the end of his employment in June 2004 and thereafter.  These witnesses indicate that the employer did not receive actual notice of any injury related to the March 2004 altercation prior to receipt of the April 6, 2005 report of injury on May 3, 2005.

At the time of the April 25, 2008 hearing, the employer’s business was sold, employees had dispersed, and not all witnesses could be located. Four witnesses did present additional testimony on behalf of the employer. The first witness, Pam Scott, claims manager for the insurer, testified that the employee filed four claims again Whitestone including one for earwax build up which the employer paid for his treatment because the condition was possibly related to use of earplugs in the work place.  He also filed a claim regarding injuries sustained in the March 2004 altercation but the employer did not receive copies of medical reports related to back treatment for injuries related to the March 2004 altercation.  Ms. Scott related that the employer eventually controverted benefits claimed from the March 2004 altercation based on AS 23.30.100 and AS 23.30.235.
  Ms. Scott testified that the employee made a claim for frostbite but never submitted any medical reports to support.  Finally, Ms. Scott reported the employee filed a claim under the Longshore and Harbor Worker’s Act.

The second witness, John Rivers, was the Afognak camp manager at the time the employee worked for the employer. Mr. Rivers testified that he talked to the employee the night of the altercation or the next day.   He testified that the employee never informed him that he injured his hip, the employee did not have a limp and the employee did not inform him of any injury as a result of the March 2004 altercation.  Mr. Rivers testified that the employee never asked to go to the doctor and the employee never missed work.

The third witness was Ron Johnson, who served as a supervisor for the employer during the time the employee worked for Whitestone in 2004.  Mr. Johnson testified that he was in a position to know if the employee was experiencing problems causing him to be unable to work.  He testified that the employee never informed him that he had an injury while working for Whitestone.  Mr. Johnson also testified that the employee displayed no signs of physical injury and the employee experienced no time loss.  

Finally, Janelle Lepschat, office clerk for Whitestone, testified for the employer.  She worked for the employer during the time the employee worked for Whitestone. She would have processed injury reports for the employee but never received any such injury reports.  She did not receive a report of a hip or ear injury.  She testified that she saw him the day he left employment for the employer and he made no mention of leaving work due to inability to work. 

IV.  ARGUMENTS OF THE PARTIES

A. EMPLOYEE

The employee maintains that he did report his hip, back, neck and hand injury from the March, 2004 incident to John Rivers, and the company was at fault in failing to file an incident report.  The employee maintains that the employer forced him to work 80-90 hours a week while he was injured and that he reported the injury to Joe Bovee and that one of the other employees involved in the altercation never got in trouble because the company needed him.
  The employee asserts that Whitestone is responsible for his injuries, not Simpson Timber as asserted by the employer and through Dr. Cole’s statement.  The employee also asserted that his hip was “popped out” when he jumped from a second story window during the altercation in order to avoid his assailants.
 The employee also asserted that the employer’s failure to provide treatment for his injuries was causing a hardship on him and his family.
 The employee testified and detailed his efforts in the past four years to obtain the services of various counsel but all to no avail.  The attorneys he contacted were based in Seattle, Juneau, and Anchorage.  According to the employee, no one would take his case.  The employee also requested an SIME to provide further information for the record on his back and hip conditions. 



B. EMPLOYER

The employer contends that the additional witnesses on behalf of the employer establish that the employee never gave the employer actual notice of his injuries as a result of the March 2004 altercation.  As a result, the employer maintains the claim should be dismissed due to failure by the employee to give the employer timely notice as a required by AS 23.30.100.  The employer further asserts that the employer was prejudiced by the employee’s failure to timely give notice of his March 2004 injuries and that the employee knew how to file a clam as he filed one for his ear condition that arose from work for Whitestone.

The employer also argues that the medical information in the Board’s file does not show the employee has been treated for back or hip problems caused by the March 2004 altercation.  Instead, the employer maintains that the employee had back problems for several years before the March 2004 incident.  In addition, the employee did not report back or hip problems when he saw doctors after March 2004 until late 2005 and 2006 and even when he reported back and hip problems, objective evidence, including the x-rays from December 9, 2005, for instance, are negative. Based on the available medical reports, the employer asserts that even if the claim were not dismissed under 
AS 23.30.100, the claim is not compensable under AS 23.30.120.  


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
Based on further evidence from the parties including medical reports and witnesses, the Board enters additional findings of fact and conclusions of law.

I.  EMPLOYER’S  MOTION TO DISMISS CLAIM PURSUANT TO AS 23.30.100

AS 23.30.100 states with regard to Notice of Injury or Death,

(a) Notice of an injury or death in respect to which compensation is payable under this chapter shall be given within 30 days after the date of such injury or death to the board and to the employer. 

(b) The notice must be in writing, contain the name and address of the employee and a statement of the time, place, nature, and cause of the injury or death, and be signed by the employee or by a person on behalf of the employee, or in case of death, by a person claiming to be entitled to compensation for the death or by a person on behalf of that person. 

(c) Notice shall be given to the board by delivering it or sending it by mail addressed to the board's office, and to the employer by delivering it to the employer or by sending it by mail addressed to the employer at the employer's last known place of business. If the employer is a partnership, the notice may be given to a partner, or if a corporation, the notice may be given to an agent or officer upon whom legal process may be served or who is in charge of the business in the place where the injury occurred. 

(d) Failure to give notice does not bar a claim under this chapter 

(1) if the employer, an agent of the employer in charge of the business in

 the place where the injury occurred, or the carrier had knowledge of the 

injury or death and the board determines that the employer or carrier has 

not been prejudiced by failure to give notice; 

(2) if the board excuses the failure on the ground that for some satisfactory 

reason notice could not be given; 

(3) unless objection to the failure is raised before the board at the first 

hearing of a claim for compensation in respect to the injury or death. 

AS 23.30.135(a) provides, in pertinent part, as follows:


In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided in this chapter.  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . .
In  Dafermo v. Municipality of Anchorage, 941 P.d 114 (Alaska 1997), the Alaska Supreme Court addressed the notice issue under AS 23.30.100 in a case involving an employee who suffered a work related eye injury and the employee delayed in giving the employer notice.  The Court discussed the need for timely notice to the employer by saying:

Dafermo contends that he was not aware of the nature of his disability or its work relatedness until he received a letter from Dr. Steinberg, dated September 3, 1991, which included a copy of Dr. Bosley's impression and diagnosis. Dr. Bosley did not specifically connect Dafermo's eye problems to his employment with MOA. However, he did suggest that Dafermo's work with computers might be a factor in his problems. He diagnosed a neurological dysfunction that corresponded with Dafermo's difficulty with visual and language functions, and observed that "[i]t seems most likely that [Dafermo] has become symptomatic in the relatively recent past because of the additional stress that he has put on his language system ... by taking a job as a computer programmer." In 1993 Dr. James Sheedy examined Dafermo, and more clearly and definitively diagnosed a link between Dafermo's eye problems and his work in front of a computer screen.
In proceedings before the Board, the Board found that Dafermo failed to give notice of his injury within thirty days, as required by AS 23.30.100(a). 

The Board then considered whether Dafermo's failure to provide notice was excusable under AS 23.30.100(d)(1).  It determined that Dafermo orally notified supervisors of his symptoms, but failed to provide any indication that he believed his problems were work-related. The Board found that MOA "had no way of knowing the employee's symptoms were work-related because the employee did not report them as such." The Board then determined that "the employee's failure to report his symptoms as potentially related to his computer work prejudiced the employer's ability to conduct an investigation into the matter." Because of this prejudice to MOA, the Board found the AS 23.30.100(d)(1) exception to the notice requirement inapplicable to the claim before it.

The Board initially found that Dafermo did not bring the claim in a timely manner, pursuant to AS 23.30.105(a).  First, the Board determined that Dafermo did not sustain a latent injury that would postpone the running of the two-year claims period until the date he received the Bosley diagnosis through the Steinberg letter. The Board found that "in the exercise of reasonable diligence, the employee could have come to know the nature of his disability and its relation to his employment long before the diagnoses by Dr. Bosley and Dr. Sheedy." Because Dafermo "reasonably could have, but did not recognize the nature and seriousness of his problem or relate the problems to work prior to the examinations by these doctors," the Board determined that the period for bringing the claim had begun to run earlier, and had since expired.

	
	


	
	


	
	


Dafermo appealed the Board's decision to the superior court, which affirmed the decision of the Board based on the Board's resolution of the notice issue. Dafermo appealed the decision on the notice issue to the Alaska Supreme Court. The Alaska Supreme Court found that the Board’s finding that the employee failed to provide notice within 30 days of his being advised of the work relatedness of his condition was supported by substantial evidence.  However, the Court went on to determine that the Board’s finding of prejudice to the employer was not supported by substantial evidence.


The Court ultimately determined the Board's finding of prejudice was the basis for its conclusion that the AS 23.30.100.(d)(2) exception to the notice requirement was not applicable. The Court stated that Alaska Statute 23.30.(d)(1) creates an exception to the notice requirement when two conditions are met: (1) "the employer, an agent of the employer in charge of the business in the place where the injury occurred, or the carrier had knowledge of the injury or death," and (2) "the board determines that the employer or carrier has not been prejudiced by failure to give notice...." 

	The Court went on to state:




Timely written notice of an injury is required because it lets the employer provide immediate medical diagnosis and treatment to minimize the seriousness of the injury, and because it facilitates the earliest possible investigation of the facts surrounding the injury. State v. Moore, 706 P.2d 311, 312 (Alaska 1985); Sullivan, 518 P.2d at 761; Morrison-Knudsen Co. v. Vereen, 414 P.2d 536, 537 (Alaska 1966). A failure to provide timely notice that impedes either of these two objectives prejudices the employer.
Given these notice provisions and precedent, the Board now proceeds under AS 23.30.100, 
AS 23.30.135, and the Defermo decision to analyze the notice provided by the employee to the employer regarding his March 2004 work related conditions.

II.  PRESUMPTION ANALYSIS

The injured worker is afforded a presumption that all the benefits he seeks are compensable.
 The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the type of claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  The employee need only adduce “some” “minimal” relevant evidence
 establishing a “preliminary link” between the injury claimed and employment
 or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability.

The application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.
  First, the employee must establish a "preliminary link" between the disability and his or her employment.  Second, once the preliminary link is established, it is the employer's burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence that the injury was not work related.
  To overcome the presumption of compensability, the employer must present substantial evidence that the injury was not work-related.
  Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer, and not the burden of proof, the Board examines the employer’s evidence in isolation.
 

There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: (1) produce substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.
  "Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  The Board defers questions of credibility and the weight to give the employer's evidence until after it has decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee's injury entitles him to compensation benefits.
  

The third step of the presumption analysis provides that, if the employer produces substantial evidence that the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, must "induce a belief" in the mind of the trier of fact that the asserted facts are probably true.
 

III.  
DID THE EMPLOYEE NOTIFY THE EMPLOYER OF HIS MARCH 2004 INJURY PRIOR TO THE FILING OF THE JUNE 8, 2005 REPORT OF INJURY?

Applying the presumption analysis to the notice issue, AS 23.30.100 requires an employee to give notice of an injury to the employer within thirty (30) days of the occurrence of that injury.  The Board finds the employee in the instant case never did fill out or sign an ROI identifying his back injury condition on March 2004 until June 8, 2005.  The Board finds that although the employee asserts he was prevented from filing a report of injury by company personnel, namely Mr. Rivers, and/or obtaining treatment for his back after the March 2004 altercation, his testimony is lacking in credibility.  The Board finds the employee is not credible.  (AS 23.30.122).  The Board finds that he failed to file a ROI prior to June 8, 2005, which was well over a year after the alleged date of his back injury.

The Board finds that the employee is well versed when it comes to filing a workers’ compensation claims, having filed claims in Oregon and California as well as Alaska.
  The Board finds that the employee knew how to file a claim as he filed a claim regarding his ear condition which arose in connection with work with the employer. The administrative record in this case indicates the employee has had previous experience with the workers’ compensation in California and Oregon and previously reported his ear wax condition under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act.  Although the employee giving varying accounts of how his injuries occurred, the Board finds the employee to be an articulate and effective advocate for his interests before and during hearings.  The Board finds that its determination as to the absence of credibility is bolstered by the employee’s subsequent representation on an application completed when he went to work for Simpson Timber where he asserted had he no back problems, could lift 100 pounds and walk 20 feet carrying 100 pounds.  The Board also finds that the employee lacks credibility in view of the varying accounts he gave his medical providers regarding the sources of his ear, back and hip conditions.

The employee’s claims that he told his supervisor, Mr. Rivers, about his back pain was directly controverted by Mr. Rivers’ testimony and the lack of any of the documentation which was required under the employer’s injury reporting procedures.  Pam Scott, the claims department manager for the insurer, testified that the employee filed four claims against Whitestone including the April 6, 2005 claim for the March 2004 back injury which was received June 2005 and the employer never received medical reports regarding the treatment the employee received for his back condition.  The employee also filed a claim against Whitestone for frostbite, which was never supported by medical documentation.  He also filed a Longshoreman Act claim.  The Board finds the testimony of Ms. Scott to be credible. 

The Board also finds the testimony of the Afognak camp manager, Mr. Rivers, to be credible.  Mr. Rivers was aware of the altercation involving the employee and two other workers.  Mr. Rivers testified he wrote up the other two employees for fighting and gave them each written warnings.  Mr. Rivers testified he spoke with the employee the night of the altercation and the following day.  He testified the employee never informed him he had injured his hip and the employee was not observed to be limping.  Mr. Rivers testified the employee did not report any injury to him, he never asked to see a doctor and he never missed work.  The Board finds the testimony of Mr. Rivers to be credible.

The employee testified that he reported the back injury to Joe Bovee.  However, the employer established that Mr. Bovee was not a company employee.  The Board finds that any representations made to him by the employee cannot be considered to fall within the exceptions of AS 23.30.100 or to be in any way binding on the employer.  The employee maintained that the Board should have assisted him in finding Mr. Bovee and making him available as a witness for the April 25, 2008 hearing.  However, the Board has neither the ability or resources to assist a party in securing witnesses for purposes of establishing a party’s case at hearing.  The Board finds that this is one of the problems associated with delay in reporting injuries because with the passage of time memories fade and witnesses cannot be located. 

The Board also reviewed the testimony of employer witnesses Ron Johnson, camp manager, Pam Scott, claims manager, and Janelle Lepschat, an office clerk for the employer.  Mr. Johnson testified that the employee never told him he had an injury as a result of the altercation either at the time of the altercation or prior to the employee’s leaving work with Whitestone in June 2004.  Mr. Johnson testified that the employee did not leave work due to injury and the employee worked for the employer from March 2004 until he left work for the employer in June 2004.  Mr. Johnson testified that the employee did not show signs of injury during the period from March 2004 to June 2004.  Mr. Johnson testified he would have known if the employee had any complaints of being unable to work or if the employee had experienced time loss.  Mr. Johnson testified that the employee did not have time loss or complaints related to inability to work.  The Board finds Mr. Johnson to be a credible witness. 

With respect of Ms. Lepschat, she testified that she would have processed any reports of injury during the March to June 2004 time period and there were none for the employee. She did not process reports for any hip or ear injury.  She testified she saw him at the time he resigned and he made no reference to leaving due to any injury or any inability to perform work.  The Board finds the testimony of Ms. Lepschat and all the company witnesses to be credible.

With respect to the employee’s claim that he gave the employer notice of injuries sustained in the March 2004 altercation, the Board finds that the employee has narrowly raised the presumption as of sufficient notice as to injuries claimed from the March 2004 altercation based on his account of his injury and his efforts to report the matter to the employer and subsequent reports to physicians he saw for his back pain years after the March 2004 altercation.  Accordingly, based on the above, we conclude that the employee failed to attach the presumption that he gave notice to the employer of his March, 2004 alleged injury.  

For the sake of argument, we will assume that the employee somehow attached the presumption with his own (discredited) testimony.  At the second stage of the presumption analysis, the Board finds that the employer has rebutted the presumption as to notice being given the employer pursuant to AS 23.30.100(d) in that the employee could work after the altercation in March 2004 and continued to work until he left employment in June 2004.  The Board bases its finding as to rebuttal of the presumption on the notice issue on the testimony of Mr. Johnson and Ms. Lepschat, both of whom the Board finds to be credible.   Therefore, we find the employer has rebutted the presumption of notice under AS 23.30.100(d). 

Accordingly, we proceed to the third stage of the presumption analysis.  At this stage, the presumption falls away, and the employee must prove his claim that he gave notice of the March 2004 injuries to the employer under AS 23.30.100(d) by a preponderance of the evidence.  The Board finds that the employee has failed to establish his credibility as a witness by a preponderance of the evidence pursuant to AS 23.30.121.  The employee has not established that he gave actual notice to the employer of injuries sustained in the March 2004 altercation.  The Board finds that he could have given notice of his injuries to the doctor he saw in May 2004 for his ear condition but he did not. He did not actually pursue his claim regarding a back injury arising from the March 2004 altercation until his claim against Simpson Timber for a back injury was denied two years later.  The Board finds that at the third stage of the presumption analysis, the employer has established by a preponderance of the evidence that neither the employer or its agent had knowledge of the injury.  The Board bases this finding on the credible testimony of Mr. Rivers, Mr. Johnson, Ms. Scott and Ms. Lepschat.  The Board finds that the employee has failed to make any showing that he could not give notice of the injury for some satisfactory reason.  The Board also finds that the employer was prejudiced by the employee’s failure to give timely notice of his injury and as a result, the employer could not make a thorough investigation of the injury to ascertain the facts as well as to assure the employee would receive any treatment he might need and to address the scope of their responsibility in this matter. The failure to give timely notice in 30 days is not excused by circumstances that fall within the exceptions of AS 23.30.100 (d). The employee’s claim that he gave notice of the injuries sustained in the March 2004 altercation to the employer is not established by a preponderance of the evidence and is denied and dismissed.  

Based on all the factors discussed above, the Board finds the employee to not be a credible witness.  The Board finds based on the entire administrative record and the witness testimony that the ROI filed regarding the employee’s back condition was filed with the Division on June 8, 2005, well over one year after the employee’s assertion in that ROI of when his March 2004 injury occurred.
  We conclude the employer was significantly prejudiced by the employee’s failure to report the alleged injury, and conclude the employee’s claim is barred under AS 23.30.100.  

IV.  COMPENSABILITY OF THE EMPLOYEE’S CLAIM

Even had the employee prevailed on the notice defense, the employee has failed to establish a compensable injury arising from the March 2004 incident and to establish a compensable claim based on the available medical evidence pursuant to AS 23.30.120.

At the first stage of the presumption, the Board finds the employee did not seek immediate medical after the March 2004 altercation.  Instead, he waited until he saw physicians in 2006 to first raise the possibility that he had sustained a back injury in the March 2004 altercation. In addition, the employee’s account of the March 2004 injury to his back is insufficient given his lack of credibility to effectively raise the presumption.  Under these circumstances, the Board finds that the employee has not provided sufficient evidence to raise the presumption of compensability as to his March 2004 back injury claim.  

Notwithstanding this determination, the Board finds that even if the employee raised the presumption of compensability as to the March 2004 claim, the employer has rebutted the claim at the second stage of the presumption analysis.  The employer correctly points out and the Board finds that the employee did not complain about his back and relate his back condition to the March 2004 altercation until he saw doctors in late 2005 and 2006.  In addition, the employer correctly points out and the Board finds that the employee had a back condition during the four years prior to the March 2004 injury.  The Board finds that when he did seek treatment for his ear condition after June 2004, he did not relate any work injury related to his back or hip.  The Board finds that review of the employee’s medical reports does not show that the physicians who saw him independently related his work to any of his physical problems including his back condition.  Instead, due to the passage of time, they relied on his reports as to the causes of his back and hip conditions.  On these bases, the Board finds the employer rebutted the presumption of any injury occurring from the March 2004 altercation.

Presuming the employer rebutted the presumption of compensability, the Board would find that the employee has failed to establish the compensability of his claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  This result is based on the Board’s finding that the employee is not credible with regard to his account of injuries sustained as a result of the March 2004 altercation.  The Board also bases its determination on the absence of any medical reports tying the employee’s back condition to the March 2004 altercation.  The Board finds that the doctors who did appear to relate the employee’s conditions to work did so because of the employee’s account of how his physical problems occurred. The Board also relies on the testimony of the company witnesses who we found to be credible. The Board also believes that the employee did not attempt to tie Whitestone into his back and hip injuries until he found out that his claim against Simpson based on a January 2006 back condition was dismissed.  He then saw numerous providers in an effort to establish the March 2004 altercation as the source of his back and hip problems.  

The Board finds that all the inconsistencies in his reports as to the causes of his back and hip conditions render the employee not credible.  Because the doctors who saw him saw him after years of back problems some of which were in evidence since the 1980’s and some which were evident several years before March 2004, they reliance on his reports as to the cause of his back and hip problems cannot be said to be entitled to much weight on the matter of the cause of his back and hip problems. In addition, the Board gives weight to the back and hip MRI reports which are normal.   Taken together,  the employee fails to establish his claim for injuries sustained in the March 2004 altercation. His claims for medical benefits, TTD/TPD, frivolous controversion, and PPI are denied and dismissed.

V. EMPLOYEE’S REQUEST FOR AN SIME

The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act at AS 23.30.095(k) provides, in part:


In the event of a medical dispute regarding determinations of causation . . . degree of impairment . . . necessity of treatment, or compensability between the employee's attending physician and the employer's independent medical evaluation, the board may require that a second independent medical evaluation be conducted by a physician or physicians selected by the board from a list established and maintained by the board.  The cost of an examination and medical report shall be paid by the employer.  The report of an independent medical examiner shall be furnished to the board and to the parties within 14 days after the examination is concluded.

AS 23.30.110(g) provides, in part:


An injured employee claiming or entitled to compensation shall submit to the physical examination by a duly qualified physician, which the board may require....   

AS 23.30.135(a) provides, in part:


In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided in this chapter.  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . .

AS 23.30.155(h) provides, in part:


The board may upon its own initiative at any time in a case in which . . . right to compensation is controverted . . . make the investigations, cause the medical examinations to be made, or hold the hearings, and take the further action which it considers will properly protect the rights of all parties.

The employee requested an SIME at the various prehearing conferences which preceded the April 25, 2008 hearing in this case.  The employee’s rationale for the request is based on his allegations of need for medical treatment for his back condition.  The employer objects to the request in view of the absence of conflicting medical opinions between the employee’s physicians and the employer’s argument that as there is virtually no medical evidence which supports the employee’s claim for a SIME, and the SIME would not benefit the existing medical record.  Because we concluded above that the employee’s claim is barred under AS 23.30.100 and is not compensable in general, we conclude we need not address the SIME issue.  

VI. EMPLOYEE’S REQUEST FOR CONTINUANCE

8 AAC 45.074 provides:

Continuances and cancellations.

(b) Continuances or cancellations are not favored by the board and will not be routinely granted. A hearing may be continued or cancelled only for good cause and in accordance with this section. For purposes of this subsection: 

(1) Good cause exists only when 

(A) a material witness is unavailable on the scheduled date and the taking of the deposition of the witness is not feasible; 

(B) a party or representative of a party is unavailable because of an unintended and unavoidable court appearance; 

(C) a party, a representative of a party, or a material witness, becomes ill or dies; 

(D) a party, a representative of a party, or a material witness becomes unexpectedly absent from the hearing venue and cannot participate telephonically; 

(E) the hearing was set under 8 AAC 45.160(d); 

(F) a second independent medical evaluation is required under AS 23.30.095(k); 

(G) the hearing was requested for a review of an administrator's decision under AS 23.30.041(d), the party requesting the hearing has not had adequate time to prepare for the hearing, and all parties waive the right to a hearing within 30 days; 

(H) the board is not able to complete the hearing on the scheduled hearing date due to the length of time required to hear the case or other cases scheduled on that same day, the lack of a quorum of the board, or malfunctioning of equipment required for recording the hearing or taking evidence; 

(I) the board determines that despite a party's due diligence in completing discovery before requesting a hearing and despite a party's good faith belief that the party was fully prepared for the hearing, evidence was obtained by the opposing party after the request for hearing was filed which is or will be offered at the hearing, and due process required the party requesting the hearing be given an opportunity to obtain rebuttal evidence; 

(J) the board determines at a scheduled hearing that, due to surprise, excusable neglect, or the board's inquiry at the hearing, additional evidence or arguments are necessary to complete the hearing; 

(K) an agreed settlement has been reached by the parties less than 14 days before a scheduled hearing, the agreed settlement has not been put into writing, signed by the parties, and filed with the board in accordance with 8 AAC 45.070(d) (1), the proposed settlement resolves all disputed issues set to be heard, and the parties appear at the scheduled hearing to state the terms of the settlement on the record; or 

(L) the board determines that despite a party's due diligence, irreparable harm may result from a failure to grant the requested continuance or cancel the hearing….

AS 23.30.001 provides, in part:

It is the intent of the legislature that

(1) this chapter be interpreted so as to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable costs to the employers who are subject to the provisions of this chapter;

(2) workers’ compensation cases shall be decided on their merits except where otherwise provided by statute; …

(4) hearings in workers’ compensation cases shall be impartial and fair to all            parties and that all parties shall be afforded due process and an  opportunity to be heard and for their arguments and evidence to be fairly considered.

At the prehearing conference held April 21, 2008, the employee requested a continuance of the April 25, 2008 hearing to obtain counsel.  The employer objected to the continuance request coming as it did only days before the April 25, 2008 hearing, which had already been continued from February 20, 2008.  The Designated Chair of the prehearing conference, Rosemary Foster, denied the employee’s request for counsel in view of the considerable length of the proceedings extending from October 11, 2006, when the previous hearing before the Board was held, as well as the employee’s lack of success in obtaining counsel in the past.  The employee was offered an opportunity to challenge the Chair’s ruling at the April 25, 2008 hearing.  The employee testified and detailed his efforts in the past four years to obtain the services of various counsel but all to no avail.  The attorneys he contacted were based in Seattle, Juneau, and Anchorage.  According to the employee, no one would take his case.

The Board considered the employee’s request for a continuance and denied it at the April 25, 2008 hearing.  In arriving at its decision, the Board is mindful of the importance for unrepresented employees to obtain counsel to assist them in obtaining workers’ compensation benefits.  The Board finds that this employee made requests for counsel for several years but was not able to secure counsel. The granting of a continuance would in no way assure that his future efforts to secure representations would be any more successful that his prior efforts.  The Board also considers the length of time since the prior Board hearing and need for administrative finality in this matter.  The Board also considers the language in its regulation, 8 AAC 45.082, that continuances are not favored by the Board and will not routinely granted.  For these reasons, the Board properly declined to grant a continuance in this case based on the unique facts and circumstances in this case.


ORDER
1.  Pursuant to the August 28, 2007 order on remand from the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission, the Board reconvened the matter and allowed additional testimony and evidence into the record.  Based on this evidence and testimony, the Board grants the employer’s motion to dismiss based on AS 23.30.100 as the employee did not file a timely notice of injury and the employer did not receive informal notice of the March 2004 injury.

2.  The Board further concludes that even if the employee had met the notice requirements under AS 23.30.100, the employee failed to establish a compensable claim pursuant to AS 23.30.120.

3.  The employee’s request for an SIME pursuant to AS 23.30.095 and/ or AS 23.30.110(g) is denied and dismissed.

4.   The employee’s request for a continuance of the April 25, 2008 hearing was properly denied and dismissed.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on June 11, 2008.






ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD






/s/ Patricia Vollendorf





Patricia Vollendorf, Member






Robert C. Weel, Member

APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order on Remand in the matter of CALVIN L. McGAHUEY, employee / applicant, v. WHITESTONE LOGGING, INC. and ALASKA TIMBER INSURANCE EXCHANGE, insurer / defendants; Case No. 200507894; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on June 11, 2008.



Robin Burns, Administrative Clerk II
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� June 8, 2005 report of injury.


� May 25, 2004 Greg Mete, PA-C, Kodiak Island Medical Associates.


� August 9, 2004 report of injury filed with the AWCB August 16, 2004.


� February 12, 2005 Sutter Coast Hospital  treatment provided by James Holmes, M.D.  The employee was seen for a stomach ulcer, ear infection, lymphodnopathy and gastritis.


� A four page medical note dated April 4, 2005, which is unsigned, indicates treatment for the ear cyst, clogged ear      condition, tinnitus, and a tooth pulled six months earlier.


� The April 6, 2005 report of injury was received by the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board June 8, 2005.


� June 16, 2005 controversion.


� Simpson occupational confidential intake form, Exhibit 1.


� December 9, 2005 Cole return to work slip.


� December 9-12, 2005 Cole treatment records.


� December 9, 2005 lumbar spine x-ray.


� January 23, 2006 employee letter “to whom it may concern.”


� The February 1, 2006 claim was amended at the March 22, 2006 prehearing conference.


� Computerized tomography.


� March 9, 2006 Sutter Coast Hospital emergency room record, James Holmes, M.D., including CT brain scan.


� Id., right hip MRI (magnetic resonance imaging).


� Id. MRI lumbrosacral spine.


� March 6, 2006 controversion.


� May 26, 2006 controversion; December 7, 2005 Sutter Coast emergency department nursing flow sheet relating employee’s complaints of lumbar back strain to work with Simpson.  








� December 26, 2006 Notice of Appeal by Pro Se Litigant.


� McGahuey v. Whitestone Logging, Inc. and Alaska Timber Insurance Exchange, AWCAC Dec. No. 054, 11, (August 28, 2007)).


� September 20, 2007 fax to the AWCB. September 20, 2007 fax to the AWCB.


� October 3, 2007 prehearing conference summary.


� January 31, October 3, 2007 prehearing conference summary. February 6, 2008 Sutter Coast Hospital emergency room report by Dr. Saunders.





� February 21, 2008 McGahuey fax.


� Id.


� Whitestone had ceased operations at the time of the April 25, 2008 hearing; February 21, 2008 Affidavit of Cliff Walker, owner, Whitestone Logging.





� October 24, 2007 Stein report.


� April 4, 2008 Zobel letter to Stein. 





� March 18, 2008 prehearing conference summary.


� March 19, 2008  UIHS dental records.


� April 15, 2008 prehearing conference summary.


� May 11, 2007  Order on Review of the Oregon Workers’ Compensation Board.


� April 21, 2008 employee fax to Board.





� April 8, 2003 Craig Swanson M.D. list of outpatient visits.


� August 15, 2002 Pearson report.


� August 15, 2002 Kathleen J. Adams, M.D. radiology report.


� August 14, 2002 physical therapy prescription.


� October 4, 2002 Pearson report.


� August 9, 2004 report of injury.


� February 12, 2005 Croy report.


� May 5, 2005 McCallum report, Sutter Coast Hospital and report of Gina Gastelum, PA-C.


� May 7, 2005 report of Karen Mullin, title unknown, and Sandra Saunders, M.D., Sutter Coast Health Center. There is also a report of the employee being seen on May 6, 2005 by Dr. Saunders at the Sutter Coast Health Center for a “spider bite” follow up.   


� December 2, 2005 Wakeman patient acquaintance form, chart notes and billing form which shows a subsequent tooth removal October 10, 2006.


� December 7, 2005 Sutter Coast Hospital emergency room report.


� September 14, 2006 Sutter Coast Hospital emergency room report by George Isenhart, M.D., the admitting physician.


� April 26, 2006 Saunders report.


� September 19, 2006 Sutter Coast Hospital emergency room admission report listing the attending physician as Dr. Croy and the attending physician as Sandra Saunders, M.D.


� March 9, 2006 Sutter Coast Hospital report.


� March 17, 2006 lumbosacral MRI study interpreted by David Burton.


� March 21, 2006 MRI of right hip performed at the Sutter Coast Hospital and interpreted by Edward Cefala.


� March 23, 2006 Holmes report.


� April 9, 2006 Sutter Coast Hospital emergency room report by Dr. Holmes.


� September 14, 2006 Sutter Coast Hospital emergency room report.


� September 24, 2006 Sutter Coast Hospital emergency room report. September 24, 2006 Joan Butler, F.N.P, Sutter Cost Hospital emergency room report.


� October 1, 2006 Nicely report.


� October 14, 2006 Saunders report.


� Id at 2..


� Id., 3.


� October 21, 2006 Sutter Coast Health Center report. Dr. Saunders describes the employee’s account as a “long, confusing, anatomically impossible story regarding a mass behind his ear…”


� January 16, 2007 Sutter Coast Hospital emergency department.


� November 26, 2007 report of Timothy Nicely, M.D., for the Sutter Coast Hospital emergency department.


� February 6, 2008 Holmes report.


� At hearing, the employer reiterated its position that it was not defending the claim based on AS 23.30.235.


� July 12, 2007 McGahuey statement to the Appeals Commission.


� Id.


� October 2, 2007 fax to the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board.
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